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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MS5031 
CASE NAME: PARAQUAT CASES 
HEARING ON PRO HAC VICE ADMISSION OF LESLIE B. LAMACCHIA ( TO 
APPEAR AS COUNSEL FOR PLTFS AMAYA) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. 

  

  
 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00956 
CASE NAME: EUBANKS VS YAPSTONE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR PRELIMINARY APPROVL OF CLASS ACTION 
SETTLEMENT FILED BY IRMA EUBANKS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 The motion for preliminary approval initially was heard on February 11, 2021.  At that 

time, the Court indicated that the settlement appeared to be approvable, subject to certain 

questions.  The ruling stated as follows: 

First, the Court is concerned that counsel have not provided any 

discussion of the strengths and weaknesses of the case in order to justify the 

settlement amount. 

Second, the Court is concerned about the installment provisions.  

Installment payments create a risk of non-payment, and increase the likelihood 

that some class members will not be found.  Accordingly, a justification should be 

provided for the delay.  (If it requires the provision of confidential business 

information, an appropriate application under CRC 2.550 can be made.)  The 

Court has noticed that the allocations of each payment are structured such that 

the largest portion of the risk of future non-payment falls on the attorneys 

themselves, which is appropriate. In addition, the agreement does not address 

the plaintiffs’ remedies in the event of non-payment.  The parties may wish to 

consider an acceleration clause, a short grace period, a stipulation to entry of a 

judgment, or other remedies appropriate to protect the class members’ interests.  

These issues need to be addressed before the settlement can be approved.  

Third, the agreement, in Paragraph 3(A) contains very broad release 

language “including any other claims that were or could have been alleged during 

the Class Period based on the factual allegations pled in the operative 

Complaint.”  Plaintiffs in this case did not give a PAGA notice and therefore are 

not authorized to pursue or settle the State’s PAGA claims. Accordingly, in the 
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Court’s view, PAGA claims could not have been alleged in this case, and are not 

released.  The parties need to clarify that they share the same interpretation. 

Fourth, the settlement provides for payment of penalties, but is not clear 

about the basis for them, since this is not a PAGA case.  The specific statutory 

basis for the penalties needs to be clarified. 

After continuing the matter more than once, the parties now have submitted 

supplemental materials.   

 As to the first issue, an acceptable analysis of the value of the claims has been provided, 

through plaintiff’s counsel’s supplemental declaration. 

 As to the second issue, the parties report that the settlement provides for distribution of 

two-thirds of the settlement to the class before the second installment payment, the provision of 

a ten-day grace period on the installments, interest at the legal rate for missed payments, and 

an acceleration clause if any payment is more than thirty days late.  These address the Court’s 

concerns about the structure of the payments.  The parties also have filed a redacted 

declaration concerning the financial issues associated with the defendant, along with a motion 

under CRC 2.550 seeking that the un-redacted version of the declaration be filed under seal.  

The motion sets forth adequate grounds to grant the motion, but the proposed order granting it 

does not meet the requirements of Rule 2.550(d), which requires that the court grant the motion 

only if “it expressly finds facts that establish” five separate matters.  (It also refers to Defendant 

“Remington Lodging & Hospitality, LLC,” which needs to be corrected.)   Counsel are directed to 

electronically file a notice of lodging of confidential documents, to lodge the unredacted version 

of the conditionally sealed documents with the declaration as provided under Rule 2.551(d) by 

hard copy with the Civil Clerk’s office, and to submit a proposed order meeting the requirements 

of the rule to the Complex Litigation Department electronic mailbox.  Once the order is entered, 

the Court will review the documents.  If these tasks are accomplished and the motion to seal is 

granted, the motion to seal currently set for October 28, 2021, will be vacated. 

 As to the third and fourth issues, the parties have made appropriate clarifications.  

 Before finally determining whether the proposed settlement can be preliminarily 

approved, the Court needs to review the information in the unredacted declaration of David 

Durant.  Accordingly, the motion for preliminary approval is continued to October 28, 2021 to 

allow for entry of the order to seal records and review of the declaration.  
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 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02080 
CASE NAME: HARVITT VS JACKSON THERAPY PAR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ATTY FEES, COSTS AND SERVICE AWARD 
FILED BY ERICA HARVITT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 See Line 4. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02080 
CASE NAME: HARVITT VS JACKSON THERAPY PAR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR FINAL APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION 
SETTLEMENT FILED BY ERICA HARVITT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Plaintiff Erica Harvitt moves for final approval of her class action settlement with 
defendant Jackson Therapy Partners, LLC.  Separately, she moves for approval of attorney’s 
fees, costs, settlement administration costs, and a representative payment.  Both motions will be 
considered together. 

A. Background and Settlement Terms 

The original complaint was filed October 4, 2019.  It is a class action complaint alleging 
that defendant violated the Labor Code by underpaying overtime to traveling healthcare staff, by 
excluding per diem benefits and non-discretionary bonuses from the determination of the rate of 
pay.  The First Amended Complaint, filed February 25, 2021, added allegations under PAGA. 

The settlement would create a gross settlement fund of $250,000.  The class 
representative payment to plaintiff would be $2,500.  Counsel’s attorney’s fees would be 
$83,333 (33% of the settlement).  Litigation costs would not exceed $15,000.  The settlement 
administrator (ILYM Group) would cap its costs at $12,000.  PAGA penalties would be $10,000, 
resulting in a payment of $7,500 to the LWDA.  Thus, the net settlement amount available to the 
class would be $129,667.  The fund is non-reversionary.  

The proposed settlement would certify a class of all non-exempt hourly healthcare 
professionals employed by defendant in California since October 5, 2015.  

 The class members will not be required to file a claim.  Class members may object or 
opt out of the settlement.  The distribution would be based on overtime hours worked during the 
class period, except for the plaintiff share of the PAGA penalty, which will be distributed pro rata.   

Various prescribed follow-up steps will be taken with respect to mail that is returned as 
undeliverable.  Uncashed checks would be cancelled and the amounts would be tendered to the 
Unclaimed Property Division of the State Controller’s Office.     

The settlement contains release language covering any claims that were or could have 
been alleged based on the facts pleaded in the complaint.  As to PAGA claims, the judgment 
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would bind aggrieved employees regardless of whether they opt-out of the class action.  
Paragraphs III.G.1 and III.G.2 expressly provide that the releases are limited to claims “based 
on the failure to include per diems, allowances, and/or bonuses in the regular rate,” with the 
PAGA release adding a reference to “or any violation of Labor Code sections 201, 202,203, 510, 
or 1194.”  The Court interprets this language as limiting the release to the identified issues, such 
that it would not apply to other claims brought raising other issues, e.g., meal and rest breaks, 
off-the-clock claims, or anything else related to wages.  If this is not the case, and the parties 
view the release more broadly, then the parties shall notify the Court, and be prepared to 
document how those other claims are properly addressed in the settlement. 

Substantial formal discovery was undertaken, written and depositions, and the matter 
settled after extensive arms-length negotiations.   

Counsel also has provided a summary of a quantitative analysis of the case, and how 
the settlement compares to the potential value of the case, after allowing for various risks and 
contingencies.  Counsel estimates the recovery at just over half of the maximum potential 
recovery.  The primary issue in the case is whether the per diem payments should be included 
in the calculation of “regular rate” of pay, which in turn may rise or fall on whether the per diem 
payments are set based on actual travel or on hours worked per week.  (See Clark v. AMN 
Servs., LLC (9th Cir. 2021) 987 F.3d 848.)  (As plaintiff notes, the Clarke decision was not 
issued until after the memorandum of understanding in this case had been signed, thus counsel 
were obligated to proceed with the agreement.  The Court is not so bound, but does not 
consider the Clarke decision as so momentous as to require a reevaluation of the settlement.)  
In addition, while the California Labor code does not define “regular rate,” the federal Fair Labor 
Standards Act states that regular rate does not include travel expense reimbursements.  Claims 
for PAGA penalties are difficult to evaluate because they derive from other violations and may 
be reduced in the discretion of the court. 

The documentation submitted with the motion attests that LWDA was notified of the 
settlement. 

Since preliminary approval was granted, the settlement administrator has notified the 
class.  Notice was mailed to 232 class members.  After the initial mailing, 29 notices were 
returned as undeliverable.  After follow up, 15 new addresses were found and those notices 
were remailed.  Only one class member opted out.  No class members objected. 

B. Legal Standards 

The primary determination to be made is whether the proposed settlement is “fair, 
reasonable, and adequate,” under Dunk v. Ford Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1801, 
including “the strength of plaintiffs’ case, the risk, expense, complexity and likely duration of 
further litigation, the risk of maintaining class action status through trial, the amount offered in 
settlement, the extent of discovery completed and the state of the proceedings, the experience 
and views of counsel, the presence of a governmental participant, and the reaction … to the 
proposed settlement.”   

Because this matter also proposes to settle PAGA claims, the Court also must consider 
the criteria that apply under that statute. The Legislature’s express command that PAGA 
settlements be approved by the court necessarily implies that there is some substantive 
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dimension to the review.  (Labor Code § 2699(l).)  The Court’s review, however, is somewhat 
hampered by the lack of guidance in the statute or case law concerning the basis upon which a 
settlement may be approved.  The Court has found no binding authority, but one federal District 
Court has addressed the issue.  In O’Connor v. Uber Techs, Inc. (N.D. Cal. 2016) 201 
F.Supp.3d 1110, 1133, the court denied approval of class action settlements that included 
PAGA claims in part because the plaintiffs’ claims added up to as much as $1 billion in PAGA 
penalties but parties settled those claims for $1 million, or 0.1% of their alleged maximum value.  
As the court stated, “where plaintiffs bring a PAGA representative claim, they take on a special 
responsibility to their fellow aggrieved workers who are effectively bound by any judgment. 
[citation omitted]  Such a plaintiff also owes responsibility to the public at large; they act, as the 
statute’s name suggests, as a private attorney general, and 75% of the penalties go to the 
LWDA ‘for enforcement of labor laws . . . and for education of employers and employees about 
their rights and responsibilities under this code.’”  (Id., at 1134.)  In that case, the LWDA itself 
filed a brief stating that “[i]t is thus important that when a PAGA claim is settled, the relief 
provided for under the PAGA be genuine and meaningful, consistent with the underlying 
purpose of the statute to benefit the pubic and, in the context of a class action, the court 
evaluate whether the settlement meets the standards of being ‘fundamentally fair, reasonable, 
and adequate’ with reference to the public policies underlying the PAGA.”  (Id., at 1133.)  The 
Uber Techs court noted that “a court may reduce the penalty when ‘to do otherwise would result 
in an award that is unjust, arbitrary and oppressive, or confiscatory.’” (Id., at 1134, citing Labor 
Code § 2699(e)(2).)  Nonetheless, the court noted that the plaintiff had provided no “coherent 
analysis” to justify the “relatively meager value” assigned to the PAGA claim.  

California law provides some general guidance concerning judicial approval of any 
settlement.  First, public policy generally favors settlement.  (Neary v. Regents of University of 
California (1992) 3 Cal.4th 273.)  Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement 
contrary to law or public policy.  (Bechtel Corp. v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 
412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1121, 1127.)  Moreover, “[t]he court cannot 
surrender its duty to see that the judgment to be entered is a just one, nor is the court to act as a 
mere puppet in the matter.”  (California State Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court 
(1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.)  As a result, courts have specifically noted that Neary does not 
always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are implicated, the additional safeguard 
of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement process, serves a salutatory 
purpose.”  (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc. v. Kintetsu Enterprises of America (2006) 141 
Cal.App.4th 48, 63.) 

C. Attorney fees, costs, administration costs, and representative awards 

Plaintiffs seek one-third of the total settlement amount as fees, relying on the “common 

fund” theory.  Even a proper common fund-based fee award, however, should be reviewed 

through a lodestar cross-check.  In Lafitte v. Robert Half International (2016) 1 Cal.5th 480, 503, 

the Supreme Court endorsed the use of a lodestar cross-check as a way to determine whether 

the percentage allocated is reasonable.  It stated:  “If the multiplier calculated by means of a 

lodestar cross-check is extraordinarily high or low, the trial court should consider whether the 

percentage used should be adjusted so as to bring the imputed multiplier within a justifiable 

range, but the court is not necessarily required to make such an adjustment.”  (Id., at 505.)  

Pursuant to the Court’s direction, counsel have provided information to construct a lodestar fee 
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amount.  Based on total hours of 202.9, at rates of either $650 or $600 for the two attorneys in 

question, the calculated lodestar is $128,305.  Ordinarily, the Court expects some portion of the 

work to be done by relatively inexperienced attorneys at a lower hourly rate.  In this instance, 

however, the sought fee ($83,333.33) is only about 65% of the lodestar fee.  No adjustment is 

necessary. 

Litigation costs of $5,001.58 are reasonable and are approved. 

Settlement administration costs of $12,000 are reasonable and are approved.  

Plaintiff requests a representative payment of $2,500. Criteria for evaluation of such 

requests are discussed in Clark v. American Residential Services LLC (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 

785, 804-807.  She attests to the risks and burdens of being a class representative plaintiff.  She 

also states that she signed a release broader than that required of the class, but she does not 

describe any other claim she had that may have had value.   She estimates that she spent 

about 30 hours working on the case.  The request is approved. 

D.   Discussion 

The moving papers sufficiently establish that the proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, 

and adequate to justify final approval.  The analysis of the value of the case is sufficient for 

current purposes.  The settlement, attorney’s fees, costs, settlement administration costs, and 

representative payment, are approved. 

E. Conclusion 

Counsel are directed to prepare an order reflecting this tentative ruling, the other findings 

in the previously submitted proposed order, and to prepare a separate judgment.  The judgment 

shall specifically identify the class member who opted out of the settlement.  Counsel shall 

obtain a hearing date for a compliance hearing after the settlement has been completely 

implemented.  A statement updating the Court on compliance shall be filed one week before the 

hearing.  10% of the attorney’s fees are to be withheld by the settlement administrator pending 

proof of compliance at the compliance hearing. 

 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00322 
CASE NAME: FORD VS CHEVRON, et al. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR DISMISS OR IN ALTERNATE STAY CASE FILED 
BY CHEVRON U.S.A. INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Before the Court is Chevron U.S.A. Inc.’s Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative Stay, 
Based on Forum Non Conveniens.  

Chevron contends that because Texas is a suitable venue, and because the balance of 
private and public interests in this case weighs in favor of Texas, this Court should stay or 
dismiss the action. Plaintiffs, J.D. Ford and Pamela Thurman-Ford, oppose the motion, arguing 
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Chevron has not met its burden. Because Chevron has not sufficiently shown California to be 
inconvenient, and Texas a more appropriate forum, the Court denies the motion.  

Background 

This case arises from plaintiff J.D. Ford’s diagnosis of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma, a 
type of non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, which allegedly resulted from his exposure to benzene-
containing products between 1973 and 2007 at a tire manufacturing plant located in Tyler, 
Texas. (See Complaint, ¶¶18-20.) Plaintiffs, Mr. Ford and his wife, Pamela Thurman-Ford, are 
both residents of Texas. They filed their complaint on February 14, 2020, alleging causes of 
action for negligence and strict liability against several defendants, including Chevron. Chevron 
answered on May 8, 2020. Several other defendants moved to quash for lack of personal 
jurisdiction and, following the granting of those motions to quash, and conducting some 
discovery, Chevron filed this motion to dismiss or stay in September of 2021. 

Objections to Evidence 

Chevron objects to the declarations of J.D. Ford (Exhibit 27) and Pamela Thurman-Ford 
(Exhibit 28) on the basis they were not properly certified under penalty of perjury. The objections 
are sustained.  

Analysis 

Code of Civil Procedure, section 410.30 provides that a court shall stay or dismiss an 
action in whole or in part, on any conditions that may be just, when it finds that an action should 
be heard in a forum outside this state in the interest of substantial justice. In Stangvik v. Shiley 
Inc. (1991) 54 Cal. 3d 744, 751, the California Supreme Court set forth a two-step analysis 
wherein a court first determines whether the alternate forum is a ‘suitable’ place for trial. If it is, 
the next step is to consider the private interests of the litigants and the interests of the public in 
retaining the action for trial in California. As the moving party, defendant bears the burden of 
proof. The granting or denial of a forum non conveniens motion lies within the court's sound 
discretion.  

Suitability of Texas as a Forum 

In this case, Chevron stipulates to jurisdiction in Texas and to waiving any statute of 
limitations defense, or at least any arising after this action was filed. (Motion, 6:2-5.) Further, 
while plaintiffs contend that Texas is no more appropriate than California, they do not dispute its 
“suitability.” (Opposition, 7:21.) The Court accepts, pursuant to Chevron’s stipulation, that Texas 
is a suitable forum. (See Roman v. Liberty University, Inc. (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 670, 682-
683.)  

Interests of Justice  

We next turn to whether Chevron succeeds in showing that the private and public 
interests favor venue in Texas.  

The private interest factors are those that make trial and the enforceability of a judgment 
expeditious and relatively inexpensive. (Stangvik, supra, 54 Cal.3d at p. 751, citations omitted.) 
Chevron asserts that it will need to resort to out-of-state commissions and Texas courts to 
obtain discovery from those witnesses located in Texas. In support of this argument, Chevron 
cites the complaint, as well as plaintiffs’ responses to special interrogatories.  
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The complaint asserts plaintiffs are Texas residents and the exposures complained of 
occurred in Texas between 1973 and 2007 at a tire manufacturing plant where plaintiff J.D.Ford 
worked. (See Complaint, ¶¶18-20.)  

The interrogatory responses, for their part, list nearly 50 witnesses, but little else. Only 
13 of the witnesses have any contact information and those that do have contact information 
only have phone numbers, not locations. Chevron argues these phone numbers indicate 
residence in Texas based on area code, but provides no evidence of independent investigation. 
For example, nothing is presented which verifies the current location of witnesses, whether they 
are living anywhere in particular, or even living at all. Nothing indicates whether the phone 
numbers are landlines.  

While Chevron argues the relevant medical providers are located in Texas, none of the 
witnesses listed in plaintiffs’ interrogatory responses appear to be doctors.  It is not clear at this 
point whether all treatment was in Texas.  Moreover, while documentary discovery of medical 
care providers will occur, it is relatively unlikely that their testimony would be offered at trial (as 
opposed to simply becoming the basis for expert testimony).  This motion does not present a 
discovery issue, and the Court does not address the issue of completeness, except to note that 
Chevron’s showing as to witness locations is not particularly strong. From the discovery 
presented, it is unclear how many of the witnesses currently reside in Texas.  

Chevron argues that, despite being located in California, it would be subject to a Texas 
court’s jurisdictional rules governing parties, lessening the burden on plaintiffs if the case were 
litigated in Texas since plaintiffs would not need commissions in order to obtain documents or 
employee depositions from Chevron. Since the events in this case occurred decades ago, one 
limitation to Chevron’s argument is worth noting. Chevron cannot necessarily make any 
representations on behalf of former Chevron employees (who would no longer be subject to 
rules governing parties) or compel their cooperation with out-of-state litigation.  

While plaintiffs concede some of the witnesses may be in Texas, they make no 
concessions concerning how many, or which witnesses. Additionally, as to plaintiffs’ availability, 
while the Court has sustained objections to their declarations stating their willingness to travel, 
their voluntarily filing suit in this state creates such an inference. (See, e.g., Code Civ. Proc., § 
2025.250 [re deposing party’s option to take party’s deposition in the county where case is 
pending]; Code Civ. Proc., § 1987(b)-(c) [re compelling party attendance at trial and production 
of evidence].)  

In any event, the ease of access to witnesses, and the cost of compelling their 
cooperation, are factors to be considered, but no one factor controls the analysis. The public 
and private interests should be “applied flexibly, without giving undue emphasis to any one 
element.” (Stangvik, supra, 54 Cal.3d at p. 753.)  

The public interest factors here do not necessarily favor either state. Courts in both are 
likely to have busy dockets. California has an interest in regulating corporations incorporated in 
this state. (Stangvik, supra, 54 Cal.3d at p. 751, citations omitted.) The argument that Texas has 
an interest in regulating employers and ensuring their compliance with local health and safety 
laws would be compelling, but the tire plant is not a party here, and the point seems rather 
inconsequential now that the plant is closed. Further, the records and witnesses relevant to the 
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tire company (which was acquired by The Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company) are in Ohio, a 
fact favoring neither California nor Texas.  

The Court recognizes that a forum choice of a non-resident plaintiff is not a significant 
factor. (Fox Factory, Inc. v. Superior Court (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 197, 205, citing Stangvik, 
supra, 54 Cal.3d at pp. 754–755.) Still, “a resident of one of our sister states who files suit in 
California is entitled to due deference under the circumstances presented, not a strong 
presumption, in favor of its choice of forum.” (National Football League v. Fireman's Fund Ins. 
Co. (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 902, 929.) There is a further presumption of convenience where a 
defendant is a resident of the forum state. (Stangvik, 54 Cal.3d at p. 755.) 

Chevron argues that Morris v. AGFA Corp. (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 1452, controls the 
outcome here, but the evidence was stronger there. The defendants in Morris introduced 
interrogatory responses that showed “all of the approximately 100 physicians and medical 
providers who treated decedent work in Texas. The responses also listed 93 coworkers, 
supervisors and friends who plaintiffs claimed had personal knowledge of decedent's work 
history and illness. The vast majority are Texas residents […].” (Id. at 1457-1458.) 

It seems, based on arguments about domicile raised in the motions to quash for lack of 
personal jurisdiction, that at least some of the original defendants could have been subject to 
jurisdiction in Texas, but as neither party raises the issue in their papers, the Court declines to 
speculate about the effects of that possibility.  

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00506 
CASE NAME: MONTEITH VS 99 CENTS ONLY STOR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL RESP TO DEF RQST FOR PROD OF 
DOCS SET 1, FILED BY 99 CENTS ONLY STORES LLC, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
            Defendant moves, in three separate motions, to compel further responses to (1) 
Defendant’s Requests for Production of Documents, Set One; (2) Defendant’s Special 
Interrogatories, Set One; and (3) Defendants Form Interrogatories, Set One; plus sanctions with 
respect to each motion of $312, $312, and $423, respectively.  Defendant documents that the 
discovery was served, that after the responses were due on July 1, they contacted plaintiff’s 
counsel on July 7 and agreed to an extension to July 28.  No responses were served.  
Defendant contacted plaintiff’s counsel again, and was advised that the responsible attorney 
had a death in his family and requested a further extension.  Time was extended to August 2, 
and again to August 23, but no responses were filed, nor have they been filed as of this date.  
Deadlines to file a motion to compel similarly were extended. 
 

Sanctions are available even though plaintiff has not opposed the motion.  Rule of Court 

3.1348(a) provides:  “The court may award sanctions under the Discovery Act in favor of a party 

who files a motion to compel discovery, even though no opposition to the motion was filed, or 

opposition to the motion was withdrawn, or the requested discovery was provided to the moving 

party after the motion was filed.”  Failure to oppose or filing of a supplemental response “shall 
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not be deemed an admission that the emotion was proper or that sanction should be awarded.”  

(CRC 3.1348(b).) 

In this instance, defendant has granted extensions, but plaintiff still did not respond.  This 

made the filing of the motion necessary.  The requested fees, based on the hourly rate and the 

time expended, are quite reasonable. 

Each motion to compel, and the requested sanctions, are granted. 

 
 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00506 
CASE NAME: MONTEITH VS 99 CENTS ONLY STOR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL RESP TO SPCL INTEROG, SET 1, 
FILED BY 99 CENTS ONLY STORES LLC, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 See Line 6. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00506 
CASE NAME: MONTEITH VS 99 CENTS ONLY STOR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL RESP TO DEFS FORM INTEROG, SET 
1, FILED BY 99 CENTS ONLY STORES LLC, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 See Line 6. 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00576 
CASE NAME: KAYLYNN PARKER VS GOLDEN STATE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of PARKER FILED BY 
GOLDEN STATE DERMATOLOGY INC, GOLDEN STATE DERMATOLOGY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer to the First Amended Complaint by defendants Golden State 

Dermatology, Inc. and Golden State Dermatology Management, LLC ("Golden State 

Defendants"). For the reasons and on the grounds set forth in further detail below, the 

demurrers to the 1st through 7th, 9th, and 10th causes of action, inclusive, are sustained, with 

leave to amend. 
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Factual Background 

Plaintiff alleges that she is a former employee of Golden State Defendants. (FAC ¶¶ 24, 25.) 

She alleges she was employed by Defendant in California from "approximately April 2019 to 

approximately November 2019." She alleges a class action as well as individual claims for a 

series of violations of the Labor Code statutes. 

Standards for Ruling on Demurrer 

In ruling on the demurrer, the Court must accept as true all well-pled factual allegations of the 

complaint, but not legal or factual conclusions or contentions of law. (City of Dinuba v. County of 

Tulare (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 859, 865; Carloss v. County of Alameda (2015) 242 Cal. App.4th 116, 

123 [citing Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318]; Czajkowski v. Haskell & White, LLP 

(2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 166, 173 ["a demurrer does not admit the plaintiff's contentions nor 

conclusions of law or fact."].) The Court in Julian v. Mission Community Hospital (2017) 11 

Cal.App.5th 360 explained, "We assume the truth of all properly pleaded facts, but we do not 

assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of fact or law. [Citations 

omitted; emphasis added.]" (Id. at 374.) (See also Schermer v. Tatum (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 

912, 925 ["[I]t is axiomatic that we consider the truth of all material facts properly pleaded or all 

ultimate facts alleged, but not contentions, deductions, or factual conclusions. (Emphasis 

added.)"] Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 967 [court does not accept as 

true on demurrer factual conclusions or contentions of law].)  

Statutory causes of action must be pled with particularity. The particularity requirement means 

that "[g]enerally, '[w]he[n] a party relies for recovery upon a purely statutory liability it is 

indispensable that he plead facts demonstrating his right to recover under the statute. The 

complaint must plead every fact which is essential to the cause of action under the statute.'" 

(Baskin v. Hughes Realty, Inc. (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 184, 207 [quoting Green v. Grimes-

Stassforth S. Co. (1940) 39 Cal.App.2d 52, 56.) (See also Fischer v. San Pedro Peninsula 

Hospital (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 590, 604 ["facts in support of each of the requirements of a 

statute upon which a cause of action is based must be specifically pled."].)  

If the demurrer is sustained, plaintiff "has the burden of proving the possibility of cure by 

amendment." (Czaikowski v. Haskell & White, LLP, supra, 208 Cal.App.4th at 173 [quoting 

Grinzi v. San Diego Hospice Corp. (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 72, 78-79 (internal quotations 

omitted)].) (See also Align Technology, Inc. v. Tran (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 949, 959.) 

Demurrer to Each Cause of Action for Uncertainty and Failure to State Causes of Action 

The general rule in California is that demurrers for uncertainty are disfavored. (Lickiss v. 

Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 1125, 1135.) A demurrer for 

uncertainty is generally only properly sustained when the pleading "is so incomprehensible that 

a defendant cannot reasonably respond." (Id.) (See also A.J. Fistes Corp. v. GDL Best 

Contractors, Inc. (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 677, 695 [" '[U]nder our liberal pleading rules, where the 

complaint contains substantive factual allegations sufficiently apprising defendant of the issues it 

is being asked to meet, a demurrer for uncertainty should be overruled or plaintiff given leave 
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to amend.' [Citations omitted; emphasis added.]," quoting Williams v. Beechnut Nutrition Corp. 

(1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 135, 139, fn. 2].) 

Plaintiff cites the standard set forth in the California Supreme Court decision Youngman v. 

Nevada Irrigation Dist. (1969) 70 Cal.2d 240 ("Youngman") regarding a special demurrer. (Opp. 

p. 1, ll. 19-22.) The Court stated in that case, "Even as against a special demurrer a plaintiff is 

required only to set forth the essential facts of his case with reasonable precision and with 

particularity sufficient to acquaint a defendant with the nature, source and extent of his cause of 

action. [Citation omitted.]" (Id. at 245.) (See also Code Civ. Proc. § 425.10(a)(1) [complaint must 

set forth "[a] statement of the facts constituting the cause of action, in ordinary and concise 

language."].) Plaintiff is required to plead with reasonable particularity the facts essential to each 

statutory cause of action for violation of the Labor Code statutes upon which the claims in the 

FAC are based. (Baskin v. Hughes Realty, Inc., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 207; Hawkins v. TACA 

Internat. Airlines, S.A., supra, 223 Cal.App.4th at 478-479 [rejecting as insufficient allegations 

parroting statute without supporting facts]; Fischer v. San Pedro Peninsula Hospital, supra, 214 

Cal.App.3d at 604 [requiring facts supporting the statutory requirements to be pled].)  

Plaintiff's FAC fails to meet these standard because it does not set forth with precision or 

particularity facts essential to acquaint the Defendants with the nature and basis of Plaintiff's 

claims. The only specific facts Plaintiff alleges regarding her employment with Golden State 

Defendants and the alleged violations of the Labor Code statutes and Wage Order she suffered 

is that she was employed by Golden State Defendants in an unspecified capacity "from 

approximately August 2019 to approximately October 2019, in the State of California, County of 

Contra Costa" and that Defendant classified her and other class members as hourly-paid or 

non-exempt employees for the unspecified job positions and unidentified services they rendered 

to the company. (FAC ¶¶ 17, 18.) The FAC then recites a laundry list of conclusory allegations 

of wage and hour violations that essentially parrot the language of the Labor Code statutes on 

which the specific causes of action are based, without setting forth any underlying facts that 

support the conclusory allegations.  

For example, Plaintiff alleges Defendant "failed to compensate [Plaintiff and the other class 

members] for all hours worked and missed meal periods and/or rest breaks." (FAC ¶ 19; see 

also FAC ¶ 25.) She alleges Plaintiff and the other class members "worked over eight (8) hours 

in a day, and/or forty (40) hours in a week during [her] employment"; that they were "required to 

work more than eight (8) hours per day and/or forty (40) hours per week without overtime 

compensation for all overtime hours worked"; that "Defendants failed to provide all requisite 

uninterrupted meal and rest periods to Plaintiff and the other class members"; and that 

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the other class members at least minimum wages for all 

hours worked." (FAC ¶¶ 24, 36-38.) She alleges that Plaintiff and the class members were not 

paid all wages owed when they were discharged or resigned; that they were not paid "all wages 

within any permissible time period under California law"; and that Defendant "failed to provide 

complete or accurate wage statements," "failed to reimburse Plaintiff and the other class 

members for all necessary business-related expenses and costs," and "failed to property 

compensate Plaintiff and the other class members pursuant to California law in order to increase 

Defendants' profits." (FAC ¶¶ 39-43.)  
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These are not "ultimate" facts as Plaintiff contends which are taken as true on demurrer. They 

are more properly characterized at best as conclusions of fact, or more accurately as legal 

conclusions that simply state Plaintiff and the other class members suffered violations of the 

Labor Code. Plaintiff alleges no facts to support the claims for relief she alleges, other than that 

she was hired and employed by Defendant and classified as an hourly or non-exempt worker. 

(FAC ¶¶ 17, 18.)  

Those facts, and the other allegations of the FAC stripped of the conclusory allegations 

parroting the Labor Code statutory violations, do not state a cause of action against Golden 

State Defendants because they merely repeat the language of the Labor Code requirements or 

prohibitions without alleging facts. (Hawkins v. TACA Internat. Airlines, S.A., supra, 223 

Cal.App.4th at478 ["We agree with the airline defendants that simply parroting the language of 

[Labor Code] section 2810 in the complaint is insufficient to state a cause of action under the 

statute."]; Bentley v. Mountain (1942) 51 Cal.App.2d 95, 98 [affirming order sustaining a 

demurrer, and stating, "The allegations of the amended complaint to the effect that defendants 

'violated' said contracts, or 'caused the violation' of said contracts by others, are mere 

conclusions of law which cannot strengthen the pleading in the absence of allegations of fact 

showing such violations."].) 

Among other things, the FAC does not allege the nature of Defendants' business, which of the 

IWC Wage Orders governs Plaintiff's employment, and what position Plaintiff held during the 

approximate two-month period she was employed by Defendants, only that she was an "hourly 

paid, non-exempt employee." (FAC ¶ 18.) If the basis of any of the claims is that Plaintiff was 

improperly treated as exempt, which is unclear from the FAC, then Plaintiff should be able to 

allege facts that at least explain the job or position Plaintiff held and address some of the 

reasons why Plaintiff contends she and the other class members should have been paid as non-

exempt workers, such as that Plaintiff and the other class members do not make hiring or filing 

decisions or other discretionary decisions regarding the business. 

Similarly, to support the overtime and minimum wage claims, Plaintiff should at least allege 

some ultimate facts, such as whether Defendants pay Plaintiff and others in part on commission 

in a manner that does not result in payment of the minimum wage for all hours worked; that 

Plaintiff has to travel for the business during hours outside the 8-hour day, 40-hour work week 

and her travel time is not compensated; or that Defendants failed to pay overtime wages 

because they failed to pay overtime hours at the higher rate required under the applicable IWC 

Wage Order or because the base wage was improperly calculated, or whatever facts are the 

basis for Plaintiff's claims against the Defendants in this case.  

Plaintiff should allege some ultimate facts to support the meal and rest break violations, such as 

that the quantity of work and deadlines or other work requirements imposed by Defendants 

provide insufficient time for breaks; that Plaintiff is required to be on-call and is not compensated 

for that time; or that Plaintiff works in the field, and travel requirements prevent her from taking 

those breaks, as applicable. As to the unreimbursed business expenses, Plaintiff should at least 

be able to allege the types of business expenses she had to incur that were not reimbursed. 

These are only some of the types of additional, ultimate facts that could be alleged that would 

provide Defendants some factual information regarding the basis of Plaintiff's claims without 
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Plaintiff having to plead detailed evidentiary facts not required under California procedure and 

case law.  

Plaintiff argues the Defendants have all the information in their possession regarding the claims 

Plaintiff alleges. The Court disagrees. The allegations of the FAC only advise Defendants of the 

employee's identity and the two-month period she was employed, which are not sufficient to 

provide any factual basis for the allegations that Defendants committed the violations recited in 

the FAC. The FAC does not provide Golden State Defendants with notice of their alleged 

wrongdoing at a minimum based on facts regarding Defendants' employment relationship with 

Plaintiff. While Plaintiff may not have specific facts regarding other class members, some facts 

regarding Plaintiff's own employment supporting the violations of the Labor Code she allegedly 

suffered are or should be accessible to her. These are "essential facts of the case" that are 

necessary for Plaintiff's claims to be alleged "with reasonable precision and with particularity 

sufficient to acquaint a defendant with the nature, source and extent" of Plaintiff's nine causes of 

action. (Youngman, supra, 70 Cal.2d at 245.)  

The general demurrers to the 1st through 7th, 9th and 10th causes of action for failure to state 

causes of action under Code of Civil Procedure § 430.10(e) and the special demurrers for 

uncertainty under Code of Civil Procedure § 430.10(f) are sustained.  

Additional Ground for General Demurrer to Second Cause of Action (Meal Breaks) 

Defendants also cite Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004 

("Brinker") to support their argument that the FAC fails to allege facts necessary to state a claim 

for violation of the employer's duty to provide meal breaks. Brinker states in effect that the fact 

an employee works through a meal break alone is not sufficient to constitute a violation. (Id. at 

1040-1041.) If Plaintiff amends this cause of action, then the Court expects Plaintiff to allege 

facts beyond the fact the employee worked through the meal break to meet the requirement to 

state a meal period violation claim set forth in Brinker. (Id. at 1040-1041.) The Court sustains 

the demurrer on this additional ground.  

Additional Ground for General Demurrer to Sixth Cause of Action (Failure to Timely Pay 

Wages) 

Defendants contend that there is no private right of action for violation of Labor Code § 204 

based on an employer's failure to timely pay wages on the employer's regular paydays. 

Defendants do not cite, and the Court has not located, a published California decision 

addressing the existence of a private right of action under Labor Code § 204. Defendants rely 

on a decision by the federal district court in Johnson v. Hewlett-Packard Co. (N.D. Cal. 2011) 

809 F.Supp.2d 1114 ("Johnson") in which the Court concluded no private right of action exists 

for a Labor Code § 204 violation, as the remedy for such a violation provided in Labor Code § 

210 is limited to recovery of penalties by the Labor Commissioner or the State of California. (Id. 

at 1136 [holding "[t]here is nothing in section 204 or 210 that indicates, in 'clear understandable, 

unmistakable terms,' that a private right of actions exists for violations of section 204."].)  

The Johnson decision preceded amendments to Labor Code § 210 that became effective 

January 1, 2020. Subdivision (b) of Labor Code § 210 now explicitly provides that a penalty may 
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be recovered by an employee "pursuant to Section 98 of the Labor Code" or by the Labor 

Commissioner. (Lab. Code § 210(b).) New subdivision (c) states, "An employee is only entitled 

to either recover the statutory penalty provided for in this section or to enforce a civil penalty as 

set forth in subdivision (a) of Section 2699, but not both, for the same violation." (Lab. Code § 

210(c).) Labor Code § 218, relied on by the Court in Johnson, provides in part, "Nothing in this 

article shall limit the right of any wage claimant to sue directly or through an assignee for any 

wages or penalty due him under this article." (Emphasis added.) The article includes Labor 

Code § 210.  

The parties have not addressed the effect of the amendments to Labor Code § 210 on the 

conclusion reached in Johnson. Further, even if the amendments might suggest there may be a 

private right of action, Plaintiff was not employed by Defendants when the amendments to Labor 

Code § 210 became effective. Having determined the demurrer to this cause of action should be 

sustained on other grounds, the Court does not address this additional ground on this demurrer. 

Additional Ground for Demurrer to Seventh Cause of Action (Non-Compliant Wage 

Statements) 

Plaintiff has made one specific factual allegation supporting the claim that the Defendants' wage 

statements failed to comply with Labor Code § 226(a). Plaintiff alleges in paragraph 94 that the 

wage statements did not include the total number of hours worked by the Plaintiff and other 

class members. (FAC ¶ 94.) 

Defendants point out, however, that to pursue a claim for violation of Labor Code § 226(a), 

Plaintiff must have suffered injury as a result of the non-compliant wage statement. Under Labor 

Code § 226(e)(2), the employee is "deemed to suffer injury for purposes of this subdivision if the 

employer fails to provide accurate and complete information as required by any one or more of 

items (1) to (9), inclusive, of subdivision (a) and the employee cannot promptly and easily 

determine from the wage statement alone one or more of the following: [¶]The amount of the 

gross wages or net wages paid to the employee during the pay period or any of the other 

information required to be provided on the itemized wage statement pursuant to items (2) to (4), 

inclusive, (6), and (9) of subdivision (a)." (Lab. Code § 226(e)(2)(i).) A person can "promptly and 

easily determine" information from the wage statement if "a reasonable person would be able to 

readily ascertain the information without reference to other documents or information." (Lab. 

Code § 226(e)(2)(C).) (See also Maldonado v. Epsilon Plastics, Inc. (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 

1308, 1335 ["In short, while the statute requires nine categories of information to be included in 

a wage statement, injury is only presumed if one of five specific categories is omitted, and, even 

then, only if a reasonable person would be unable to readily ascertain the missing information 

without reference to other documents or information."].) 

Though injury may be presumed from omission of the total number of hours required to be 

reported in the wage statement under item (2) of Labor Code § 226(a), it is presumed only if the 

missing information is not otherwise readily discernible from the remainder of the information in 

the wage statement, even if by a simple mathematical calculation. The FAC does not allege the 

omitted total hours could not be promptly and easily determined from the wage statement. The 

demurrer to the seventh cause of action is sustained on this additional ground. 
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Additional Ground for General Demurrer to 10th Cause of Action 

In addition to the deficiencies set forth above, the cause of action for violation of Business & 

Professions Code § 17200 ("UCL") is deficient because the causes of action on which it is 

founded are deficient, and it fails to allege the facts supporting the claim with reasonable 

particularity. (See Khoury v. Maly's of California, Inc. (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 619 [a claim for 

violation of the UCL must "state with reasonable particularity the facts supporting the statutory 

elements of the violation" and is deficient where the complaint "identifies no particular section of 

the statutory scheme which was violated and fails to describe with any reasonable particularity 

the facts supporting violation."].) While the FAC cites and parrots in conclusory fashion 

numerous provisions of the Labor Code supporting the alleged "unlawful" business practices, 

the FAC is not supported by facts upon which those contentions are based, as set forth above. 

The demurrer to the tenth cause of action is sustained on this additional ground.  

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0241 
CASE NAME: LAFAYETTE VS. TOWN OF MORAGA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE & TAX COSTS FILED BY TOWN OF 
MORAGA, MORAGA TOWN COUNCIL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Petitioners Move to Strike and Tax Costs of Respondent Town of Moraga (costs of 

$1,841.15).  Respondents move to strike and Tax Costs of Petitioners (costs of $94,687.25).  

Because each motion requires the Court to determine who is the “prevailing party,” they will be 

considered together. 

A “prevailing party” for purposes of costs is defined in Code of Civil Procedure section 

1032(a)(4), which provides, in part, “If any party recovers other than monetary relief and in 

situations other than as specified, the ‘prevailing party’ shall be as determined by the court, and 

under those circumstances, the court in its discretion, may allow costs or not and, if allowed, 

may apportion costs between the parties on the same or adverse sides[.]”  While there are a 

number of cases on this topic, the most recent and directly on-point is Friends of Spring Street 

v. Nevada City (2019) 33 Cal.App.5th 1092.  There, the court summarized the law as follows:  

In these situations, “the trial court in its discretion determines the prevailing party, 

comparing the relief sought with that obtained, along with the parties' litigation objectives 

as disclosed by their pleadings, briefs, and other such sources.” (On-Line Power, Inc. v. 

Mazur (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 1079, 1087.) Thus, the trial court determines whether the 

party succeeded at a practical level by realizing its litigation objectives (Wohlgemuth v. 

Caterpillar Inc. (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 1252, 1264) and the action yielded the primary 

relief sought in the case (City of Santa Maria v. Adam (2016) 248 Cal.App.4th 504, 516). 

(Id., at 1104.)  In that case, neighbors had sued the city to block the reopening of a bed & 

breakfast in their neighborhood.  Although the plaintiffs did not succeed on every theory or claim 

they advanced, they did ultimately block the opening of the business, and therefore were 

determined to have prevailed. 
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 Of course, the parties are familiar with the claims raised in the case, but the relevant 

facts warrant restating.  Petitioners own a large tract in the Bollinger Canyon area of Moraga, 

which they have sought to develop with housing for decades.  This effort was hampered by the 

fact that the Town’s General Plan identified the property as a “study area,” as opposed to a 

more specific designation, e.g., housing or open space.  Ultimately, Petitioners submitted a 

project development application for the area (including a proposed General Plan Amendment), 

which the Town denied.  The petition and complaint asserts five separate causes of action. 

The First Cause of Action was for “Uncompensated Temporary and Permanent Taking of 

Property – Inverse Condemnation.”  It alleged that due to a variety of circumstances, the delays 

in processing and final decisions with respect to the property constituted both temporary and 

permanent taking of property without just compensation in violation of the Fifth Amendment of 

the U.S. Constitution.  The Second Cause of Action was for “Violations of 41 U.S.C. § 1983,” 

based on due process and equal protection violations.  The Third Cause of Action was for a Writ 

of Mandate, based on violation of state planning and zoning law, arising from a variety of 

actions: failure to designate a land-use for the property in the General Plan, refusing to certify 

the EIR, rejection of the Project and alternatives, and application of the new Hillside regulations.  

The Fourth Cause of Action was for violation of CEQA, specifically that the Town applied the 

new Hillside Regulations to the property without complying with CEQA requirements with 

respect to the Hillside Regulations.  The Fifth Cause of action sought declaratory relief with 

respect to the legal validity of a wide variety of the Town’s actions.  In the Prayer for Relief, 

Petitioners sought a writ of mandate ordering the Town to revoke its denial of the project; and 

ordering compliance with CEQA in connection with the Project or application of the Hillside 

Regulations to it.  They also sought monetary damages for the temporary and permanent taking 

of property; a declaration that the town acted illegally, and orders preventing any further steps in 

pursuance of the denial of the project, including application of the 2018 Hillside Regulations to 

the project.  The Court cannot, however, simply compare the number of claims on which 

Petitioners prevailed with the number on which they did not prevail. 

While Petitioners raised a number of different legal theories, the gravamen of their 
petition is that the Town should have approved their most recent development application.  
Ultimately, the Court denied every request for relief, with one exception: failure to designate a 
land use for the area in question in the General Plan.  As to that issue, the Court found that 
“[g]iven all of the facts and circumstances, including the very long history of controversy about 
this site, the Court concludes that the Town has abused its discretion, and should be ordered by 
writ of mandate to adopt a general plan amendment designating the land use for this site.”   The 
Court also found that “[e]ven if the inadequacy of the Plan did not directly result in the denial of 
the project, the issue arises as to whether there is adequate reason, and adequate beneficial 
interest in the Petitioners, to justify writ relief directing the Town to adopt a plan amendment 
addressing the status of the Property.”   

The Court did find that Petitioners had a sufficient beneficial interest to warrant writ relief, 
and Petitioners did prevail in this respect.  But Petitioners’ goal in the litigation was to get their 
development proposal approved, not simply to achieve a General Plan land use designation.  
The land use designation was simply one of a number of possible roadblocks to approval of a 
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development.  It is not clear that compliance with the writ will result in approval of a development 
proposal for the property.  Petitioners did not, in an overall sense, prevail in the action. 

Because Petitioners did prevail on one issue, the Court has discretion under Code of 
Civil Procedure section 1032(a)(4) to apportion the costs among the parties.  In considering the 
Town’s relatively minimal costs, those costs would have been the same even if the General Plan 
land use designation issue had not existed. 

With respect to Petitioners’ costs, the same consideration applies:  the costs would have 
been the same even without the one claim on which Petitioners prevailed.  In particular, the 
greatest amount of Petitioners’ costs consists of $89,076.05 associated with preparation of the 
administrative record, which was quite extensive.  If the Petitioners had brought a case 
challenging only the failure of the General Plan to designate a land use for the property, the full 
administrative record would not have been necessary.  Accordingly, although Petitioners did 
prevail on one issue in the action, the Court finds that apportionment of costs is not appropriate 
in this case. 

Petitioners’ motion to strike and tax Respondents’ costs is denied. 

Respondents’ motion to strike and tax Petitioner’s costs is granted. 

 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0241 
CASE NAME: LAFAYETTE VS. TOWN OF MORAGA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR TAX COSTS FILED BY LAFAYETTE BOLLINGER 
DEVEOPMENT LLC, DAVID BRUZZONE, JOAN BRUZZONE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 See Line 10. 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN21-1426 
CASE NAME: IN RE: TEAGIN PIKE 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Guardian ad Litem and the minor are to appear.  Appearance by telephone is sufficient. 
Counsel will need to prepare an order on the appropriate Judicial Council form. 
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13.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSC19-00462 
CASE NAME: HYNDS VS VICI INCORPORATED 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: INFORMAL DISCOVERY CONFERENCE SET BY 
DEPT. 39 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Parties to appear (telephone appearance is permissible). 

 


